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Inverbroom Estate, Loch Broom, Wester Ross: Proposed Lowground Woodland New Planting: Archaeological Evaluation

1.0 Background

The author was asked by Aspen Forestry Ltd to carry out a rapid archaeological evaluation of areas of proposed new planting on low ground on the Inverbroom Estate, Loch Broom, Wester Ross. The object of the evaluation was to locate and assess the extent of known archaeological sites or features or areas of known archaeological interest within or adjacent to the proposed planting areas, and to locate previously unrecorded features. Recommendations will be given to allow mitigation measures to be put in place to protect the archaeological record from damage through planting or during fencing and other associated activities.

2.0 Methodology

A rapid desk-based assessment was carried out using all readily available databases and archive sources. The following sources were consulted:

· Highland Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council

· Early maps held by the map Library within the National Library of Scotland in Edinburgh
Background information on the history of settlement and land use in the area was acquired from the following sources:

· Baldwin JR ed. 1994: Peoples and Settlement in North West Ross

· Iredale, D. 1998: Dundonnell, Wester Ross

· Watson, WJ 1904: Placenames of Ross and Cromarty

This was followed by a walk-over survey of all the proposed planting areas. This took place in very wet and flooded conditions on 16. 3.05. Areas completely under water could not be fully evaluated. However, these flooded areas along the banks of the River Broom have probably been subjected to seasonal flooding for many centuries and are unlikely to have been settled or cultivated. There is therefore a low likelihood of archaeological features being located within these areas.

3.0 Archaeological Background

There are three recorded archaeological sites within or adjacent to the areas of proposed planting:

· Croftown Township at NH 1780 8395, SMR no. NH18SE0022: a township comprising 12 roofed buildings and 1 unroofed building as depicted on the 1st edition OS map of 1881.
· Achlunachen township at NH 1800 8345, SMR no. NH18SE0013: a township of 22 roofed buildings, 3 partially roofed buildings, 2 unroofed structures and 4 enclosures as depicted on the 1st edition OS map of 1881

· Building at NH 1782 8336, SMR no. NH18SE0012: a single unroofed building appears to be depicted on the 1st edition OS map of 1881

There are no prehistoric sites recorded within this area, although this may reflect the lack of systematic archaeological survey work. However, the estate was extensively improved during the 19th century, and any pre-existing features are likely to have been completely destroyed by draining and ploughing, and the re-use of stones for the extensive network of drystone dykes.

4.0 Historical Background. 

There is considered locally to have been a fortified building of some type on the site of the present Inverbroom Lodge since the late Mediaeval period. The nearby parish church at Clachan is considered to be one of the oldest places of worship in Ross, the site being occupied by a chapel long before the reformation. However, little is known historically about the area until Alexander Mackenzie, son of Sir Rorie Mackenzie of Coigach, acquired the northern part of  Auchlunachan in 1633. He gave the name of Ballone to this part, as his father owned the lands and castle of Ballone in Easter Ross. The Mackenzies of Ballone suffered a series of misfortunes, including supporting the Jacobite cause in 1745 and the frittering away of earnings from droving ventures, and held Auchlunachan only until 1773, when the estate was sold to Henry Davidson of Tulloch. He, with his brother Duncan invested money made in London from trade and the law in converting their extensive estates to sheep walks and improved farms.
The improvements in the strath would undoubtedly have included the removal of small tenants, some of whom would have been among the 33 families to leave Ullapool on the Hector in 1775, while another phase of removals took place in 1819 with the eviction of 55 families from Inverlael and Braemore. While townships higher up the strath towards Braemore were cleared entirely, the settlements of Auchlunachan and Croftown survived as dwellings for estate workers, and retained their original pattern of clustered houses and outbuildings. Davidson probably built the home farm and laid out the fields in their present pattern, enclosed by extensive drystone dykes
Sir John Fowler, the renowned engineer, bought the estate in 1865 and set about making further improvements. the North Star of 21st July 1895 reported on ‘…great changes wrought on the Braemore Estate where Sir John Fowler combined the highest scientific skill with boundless wealth to increase the amenity and beauty of a strath always noted for the grandeur of its scenery.’ These changes probably included the building of levees to contain the flood waters of the River Broom and the planting of ornamental clusters and avenues of trees. The old buildings at Auchlunachan and Croftown were demolished and replaced by estate cottages at a fairly late date, as the 1st edition Ordnance survey map, published in 1881 records the old buildings. The 1881 census return gives 11 families resident at Auchlunachan while the new cottages probably accommodated a maximum of 6. Fowler resided at Inverbroom House until his new house at Braemore was completed. Inverbroom House was then converted to a shooting lodge.
The 20th century saw virtually no change on the estate west of the river apart from the building of Highgate lodge.

5.0 Planting Areas

Area 6. 1.9ha.  Bounded to the north and east by drystone dykes and crossing one drystone field boundary. To the north the road is bounded by an impressive avenue of trees, these are located between the road and the dyke. Along the east boundary, the dyke has been rebuilt at one location to accommodate a tree growing ion its alignment. There are no features within the fields.
Area 7. 0.61ha. Located to the south of the Croftown road on ground rising steadily to the top of the raised beach terrace. Some mature trees grow within the field. To the west of this area is a quarry or borrow pit now partially filled with rubble, filed clearance stones and some farm rubbish.

Area 8. 0.71ha. This area is on the level improved field immediately north of the bank of the raised beach, which is planted with mature trees, some of which have recently fallen. West of the planting area, but not contiguous to it is the well-preserved ruin of a smithy.
Area 9. 0.28ha. This area is immediately to he east of the farm square. The buildings are located on the terrace of the raised beach apart from in the SE corner, but all buildings are outwith the proposed planting area.

Area 10. 0.39ha. Highgate lodge is a 20th century house in the corner of an improved field. There are no features recorded here on the 1881 OS map.

Area 11. 2.02ha. The township of Auchlunachan is located on the alluvial fan of the Allt Ach’ Ghlaineachain. West of the road, the original layout of buildings, as recorded on the 1881 map, is contained almost entirely within the enclosed gardens and grounds of the present estate cottages. Some of the pre-1881 buildings are still in use as outbuildings while others survive as substantial ruins. East of the road, within the present woodland, the footings of the pre-1881 buildings survive. One building and enclosure are still in use.

The proposed planting areas are located on the alluvial fan west of the buildings, both north and south of the river gully. The following sites of archaeological interest were noted:
a. At NH 1791 8343 Immediately to the west of the enclosed gardens and standing ruins of the township and within the improved field is an area of low grassy mounds which could be the footings of structures dating to a period before improvement when the township was larger or more spread

b. At NH 1782 8336 This is the location of the recorded site, SMR no. NH18SE0012, one unroofed building as recorded on the 1st edition OS map. Although the building is not now discernible, the alignments of the dykes do indicate a former structure or enclosure
c. At NH 1794 8339 The part building north of the dyke is the truncated remains of an original pre-1881 building which would have originally extended south into the field.
It is recommended that all three areas, while remaining within the fenced planting areas, be protected from damage to possible sub-surface archaeological features by leaving them unplanted.
Area 12. 1.47ha. This is an area of  wet ground on the raised beach terrace. The drainage has probably been adversely affected by the planting of trees and the spread of gorse on the rise.

Area 13. 2.70ha. A wet area of ground south of the spread gravels of the mouth of the Allt Ach’ Ghlaineachain. Banks of stones north of the drystone dyke probably represent field clearance.

Area 14. 2.96ha. A strip of new planting runs north of the dyke and ditch. The ditch is substantial and has been stone lined in parts, particularly where it drops down the bank to join the River Broom. The ditch and dyke are recorded on the 1st edition OS map but the plantings are of a later date, including a circular stand of trees as favoured by Fowler. This stand straddles the ditch, and the drystone wall has been rebuilt to accommodate it. There is no boundary to the north but a stock fence must have been in place until the trees matured.
The low ground adjacent to the river was under water at the time of this survey.

Area 17. 1.25ha. To the west of this area is another sub-circular stand of trees planted post-1881 and enclosed to the south by a drystone wall although open to the north. The proposed planting area has obviously subjected to regular flooding although it is now protected by a levee, probably constructed by Fowler.
6.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

The new planting areas are all within improved fields, which will have been drained and ploughed, so the possibility of surviving sub-surface archaeological features is low. In addition, the areas adjacent to the river  would have been subject to seasonal flooding and unsuitable for settlement or use. The historical analysis suggests that patterns of settlement have remained constant through the early modern period despite successive phases of removal of tenants and rebuilding of housing. There are no depopulatedpost-mediaeval settlements in this area of the strath. The three archaeological features noted in this evaluation are associated with the township of Auchlunachan and pre-date the improvements of the 1880s.

The three archaeological features are of local significance in the understanding of the history of the township of Auchlunachan and the Inverbroom estate, and will be adequately protected by being left unplanted within the enclosed planting scheme.
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